STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeal

APPEAL FROM THE
SOUTH CAROLINA WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION

T. Scott Beck, Commissioner

SCWCC File No. 1619767

Appellate Case No. 2018-001111

RECEIVED
SEP 18 2018
SC Court of Appeals

Veronica Rodriguez, Claimant.....Respondent

v.

Peggy Evers, Employer, and NorGuard Insurance Company Carrier.....Appellants

FINAL BRIEF OF THE APPELLANTS

George D. Gallagher
Bar No. 12149
Speed, Seta, Martin, Trivett & Stublely
Post Office Box 11669
Columbia, SC 29211
803.748.2259
ggallagher@speed-seta.com

Kevin Desmond Maroney
Bar No. 102545
Speed, Seta, Martin, Trivett & Stublely
Post Office Box 11669
Columbia, SC 29211
803.748.2309

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. An arbitrary decision is one that is devoid of any governing rationale. In refusing to reinstate Evers' appeal, the Commission did not provide a reason, let alone a course of reasoning, that explained its decision. Did the Commission arbitrarily refuse to reinstate her appeal?
2. The governing statute commands the Commission to review all awards of a Single Commissioner. The Commission refused to reinstate Evers' appeal and review Commissioner Campbell's award. Did the Commission exceed its statutory authority?
3. An abuse of discretion is an error of law. The Commission has no authority to refuse to review an appeal. But, even if it did, when "good cause" is shown, the Commission may reinstate an appeal that was removed from the "review hearing docket." Despite demonstrating "good cause," the Commission refused, because of Evers' clerical mistake, to reinstate Evers' appeal. Did the Commission abuse its discretion by failing to find "good cause" for reinstatement?
4. Evers' underlying appeal is meritorious. Only employees of subcontractors can be considered statutory employees of upstream contractors. Commissioner Campbell specifically found that Rodriguez was a subcontractor of Evers (the upstream contractor), not an employee of a subcontractor. Nevertheless, he still determined she was a statutory employee of Evers, which is a legal impossibility under the undisputed facts of this case. Does the Commissioner's glaring error of law justify reinstatement of Evers' Appeal?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

By Order dated January 5, 2018,¹ Workers' Compensation Commissioner Mike Campbell found that, under section 42-1-400,² Veronica Rodriguez was an independent contractor/subcontractor³ of Peggy Evers. He also ruled that she was a statutory employee of Evers, thereby establishing the Commissioner's jurisdiction to issue an award to Rodriguez.⁴ This was clear error. Only employees of subcontractors can be considered statutory employees of upstream contractors. *McDowell v. Silley Plywood Co.*, 210 S.C. 173, 41 S.E.2d 872 (1947) ("The wording of [section 42-1-400] clearly evinces an intention on the part of the Legislature not to include therein a subcontractor or independent contractor, but only workmen or employees of [] the 'owner' of the subcontractor."). Evers and NorGuard Insurance Company Carrier (hereinafter collectively referred to as Evers) appealed the Commissioner's ruling to the full Commission, contesting jurisdiction and the failure to admit evidence.⁵

¹ The date of the hearing was November 3, 2017. (Order of Commissioner Campbell) (R. pp. 2-15). Respondent initiated her claim in the Worker's Compensation Commission on March 3, 2017. (WCC Form 50) (R. pp. 18-19).

² (Order of Commissioner Campbell, ¶ 2, p. 6) (R. p. 7). Although the Appellants' arguments would remain the same, they contend the Commissioner should have analyzed the employment relationship under section 42-1-410, not section 42-1-400.

³ "'Subcontractor' was defined in *Murray v. Aaron Mizell Trucking Company*, as 'an independent contractor contracting with the contractor to do part of the work which the contractor has previously agreed to perform.'" Grady L. Beard, *et al.*, *The Law of Workers' Compensation Insurance in South Carolina* (Sixth Ed.), p. 65 (citing *Murray v. Aaron Mizell Trucking Company*, 286 S.C. 351, 355, 334 S.E.2d 128, 130 (1985) (internal citation omitted)).

⁴ (Order of Commissioner Campbell, ¶ 1, p. 11) (R. p. 12).

⁵ (Appellants' Motion to Reinstate, ¶4, p. 2). (R. p. 36). The Appellants contend that the new evidence, if admitted, undermines Rodriguez's claim that she cannot work. (Form 30 Appeal, ¶¶22-23, pp. 3-4 of Addendum). (R. pp. 23-24).

Due to a calendaring error in defense counsel's office,⁶ the deadline (March 19, 2018)⁷ for filing the initial brief was missed. On March 26, the Commission removed the appeal from the "review hearing docket," under the authority of Regulation 67-705(H)(3). S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 67-705(H)(3). One day later, March 27, Evers filed a Motion to Reinstate the appeal for "good cause."⁸ S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 67-705(H)(4) ("An appeal administratively dismissed by the Judicial Department may be reinstated for a good cause upon motion to the commission."). The Commission summarily denied the motion to reinstate via Form Order, without any accompanying explanation, on April 16.⁹ Evers filed a Motion to Reconsider the denial of the motion to reinstate on April 26.¹⁰ On May 4, she filed an amended Motion to Reconsider,¹¹ which the Commission summarily denied on May 21, also via Form Order and without any accompanying explanation.¹²

Neither the denial of the Motion to Reinstate nor the denial of the motion to reconsider explained the Commission's decision. Evers filed the Notice of Appeal on June 12, 2018 (received by the Court of Appeal on June 15, 2018).

⁶ The attorney previously handling this case is no longer with Speed, Seta. The attorney filing this brief started at Speed, Seta on July 6, 2018.

⁷ (Appellants' Motion to Reinstate, ¶5, p. 2) (R. p. 36).

⁸ (Appellants' Motion to Reinstate, ¶¶6-7, p. 2 (March 27, 2018)). (R. p. 36).

⁹ (Form Order of the Commission (April 16, 2018)). (R. p. 16).

¹⁰ (Appellants' Motion to Reconsider (April 26, 2018)). (R. pp. 40-42). Although unmentioned in the Motion to Reconsider and Amended Motion to Reconsider, the authority to file such a motion is contained within regulation 67-215(B). S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 67-215(B).

¹¹ (Appellants' Amended Motion to Reconsider (May 4, 2018)). (R. pp. 49-52)

¹² (Form Order of the Commission (May 21, 2018)). (R. p. 17).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review set forth in the Administrative Procedures Act applies to Workers' Compensation cases. *Lark v. Bi-Lo, Inc.*, 276 S.C. 130, 276 S.E.2d 304, 305 (1981).

1. The court may reverse the Commission's decision if the substantial rights of the appellant have been prejudiced because the administrative decision is arbitrary or capricious, or characterized by an abuse of discretion or clearly unwarranted exercise of discretion. S.C. Code Ann. §1-23-380(5)(f).
2. The court may reverse the Commission's decision if the substantial rights of the appellant have been prejudiced because the administrative decision is in excess of the statutory authority of the agency. S.C. Code Ann. §1-23-380(5)(b).
3. The court may reverse the Commission's decision if the substantial rights of the appellant have been prejudiced because other error of law affects the administrative decision. S.C. Code Ann. §1-23-380(5)(d).

ARGUMENT

I. The Commission's decision to refuse to reinstate the appeal is arbitrary.

The court may reverse the Commission's decision if the substantial rights of the appellant have been prejudiced because the administrative decision is arbitrary or capricious, or characterized by an abuse of discretion or clearly unwarranted exercise of discretion. S.C. Code Ann. §1-23-380(5)(f).

Evers has a statutory right to appeal the decision of the Commissioner to the full Commission. Section 42-17-50 provides, "if an application for review is made to the [C]ommission within fourteen days from the date when notice of the award shall have been given, *the [C]ommission shall review the award...*" (emphasis added). After the Commission removed the

appeal from the “review hearing docket,” the Commission denied Evers’ Motion to Reinstate, prejudicing—in fact denying—her statutory right to the full Commission’s review.

“A decision is arbitrary if it is without a rational basis, is based alone on one’s will and not upon any course of reasoning and exercise of judgment, is made at pleasure, without adequate determining principles, or is governed by no fixed rules or standards.” *Deese v. S.C. State Bd. Of Dentistry*, 286 S.C. 182, 332 S.E.2d 539, 541 (1985). In this case, the Commission decided to deny the motion to reinstate the appeal without giving any reason, let alone a course of reasoning, for its decision. The order denying Evers’ motion to reconsider is similarly devoid of a governing rationale. Consequently, the Commission’s decision is irrefutably arbitrary.¹³

II. The Commission lacks authority to deny Evers’ statutory right to the full Commission’s review.

The court may reverse the Commission’s decision if the substantial rights of the appellant have been prejudiced because the administrative decision is in excess of the statutory authority of the agency. S.C. Code Ann. §1-23-380(5)(b).

The General Assembly did not give the Commission the authority to refuse to hear appeals.

If an application for review is made to the commission within fourteen days from the date when notice of the award shall have been given, *the commission shall review* the award and, if good grounds be shown therefor, reconsider the evidence, receive further evidence, rehear the parties or their representatives and, if proper, amend the award.

S.C. Code Ann. §42-17-50 (emphasis added).

¹³ A letter from the Commission’s Judicial Director similarly failed to disclose any rationale for its decision. (Letter from the Commission’s Judicial Director (June 28, 2018)). (R. p. 33).

Although the Commission can administratively remove a case from the “review hearing docket” by regulation,¹⁴ it has no discretion to refuse reinstatement of an appeal. A refusal to reinstate the appeal is, in effect, a refusal to hear the appeal. Because the Commission cannot bypass the General Assembly’s clear statutory command via regulation,¹⁵ the Commission’s decision to deny reinstatement is in excess of its statutory authority.

III. Even if the Commission has the authority to refuse to hear an appeal (which the Appellants do not concede), Evers demonstrated “good cause” for reinstatement, so the Commission’s refusal to do so is an abuse of discretion.

The court may reverse the Commission’s decision if the substantial rights of the appellant have been prejudiced because the administrative decision is arbitrary or capricious, or characterized by an abuse of discretion or clearly unwarranted exercise of discretion. S.C. Code Ann. §1-23-380(5)(f). “For appellate purposes, an abuse of discretion occurs where the ruling is based on an error of law.” *Trotter v. Trane Coil Facility*, 393 S.C. 637, 646, 714 S.E.2d 289, 293 (2011).

As discussed previously, Evers has a right to appeal the Commissioner’s ruling to the full Commission, and the Commission has no statutory authority to refuse to hear her appeal. If the court determines the Commission has this authority, however, then the Commission still committed legal error in this case by failing to find “good cause” for reinstatement. Regulation 67-705(H)(4) enables the Commission to reinstate an administratively dismissed appeal if “good cause” is shown. “Good cause” is not defined in the regulation, but Evers provided several reasons to reinstate that should constitute “good cause.”

¹⁴ S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 67-705(H)(3).

¹⁵ See *Goodman v. City of Columbia*, 318 S.C. 488, 458 S.E.2d 531 (1995) (holding that a regulation may not alter or add to a statute’s requirements).

First, Regulation 67-705(H)(3) is not intended to be a means of summarily dismissing appeals for procedural reasons. After all, the full Commission, not an individual Commissioner, is the ultimate fact-finder for workers' compensation matters. *See* S.C. Code Ann. §42-17-50 (“[The Commission shall review the award and, if good grounds be shown therefor, reconsider the evidence, *receive further evidence*, rehear the parties or their representatives and, if proper, amend the award.”) (emphasis added). The purpose of regulation 67-705(H)(3) is simply to remove an appeal from the “review hearing docket,” thereby enabling immediate review of appeals that are already procedurally compliant. The Commission’s decision in this case thwarts South Carolina’s clear policy of favoring the disposition of cases on the merits. *See, e.g., Microtronics v. S.C. Department of Revenue*, 345 S.C. 506, 548 S.E.2d 223 (Ct. App. 2001); *see also Dixon v. Besco Engineering*, 320 S.C. 174, 178, 463 S.E.2d 636, 638 (Ct. App. 1995) (rule 55(c), the rule addressing setting aside an entry of default for “good cause shown,” should be “liberally construed to promote justice and dispose of cases on the merits”).

Second, although a calendaring error resulted in the missed deadline that led to administrative removal from the “review hearing docket,” Evers filed a motion to reinstate the appeal one day after learning of the removal. (Appellants’ Motion to Reinstate, ¶¶6-7, p. 2) (R. p. 36). This is not a situation where the Commission could infer a waiver of her right to full Commission review. Third, Ms. Rodriguez did not file a Return to Evers’ original Motion to Reinstate. (Appellants’ Amended Motion to Reconsider, ¶2, p. 1) (R. p. 40). This lack of objection is significant because parties can agree to extend the deadline for filing briefs. S.C. Code Ann. Regs. 67-705(H). There is no practical difference between an opposing party agreeing to extend a deadline and an opposing party refusing to object to an extension of a deadline; in either case, the opposing party seems content to have the deadline extended. Fourth and finally, because she will

have the opportunity to consider and respond to Evers' argument, Ms. Rodriguez is not prejudiced by reinstating the appeal.

Based on the above, discerning a lack of "good cause" for reinstatement is impossible. The failure to find "good cause" for reinstatement in her case was an error of law and prejudiced Evers' substantial right to full Commission review. Consequently, the Commission abused its discretion.

IV. Evers' underlying Appeal is meritorious because the Commission had no jurisdiction to award benefits.

The court may reverse the Commission's decision if the substantial rights of the appellant have been prejudiced because the administrative decision is affected by other error of law. S.C. Code Ann. §1-23-380(5)(d).

"The Workers' Compensation Commission has subject matter jurisdiction only where the relationship of employer and employee exists at the time of the alleged injury for which the claim is made." Grady L. Beard, *et al.*, *The Law of Workers' Compensation Insurance in South Carolina* (Sixth Ed.), p. 1 (citing *McCreery v. Covenant Presbyterian Church*, 299 S.C. 218, 221, 383 S.E.2d 264, 265 (Ct. App. 1989) (*reversed on other grounds*)). Not every relationship qualifies as an employment relationship, however. "[I]ndependent contractors have been excluded from coverage as employees in South Carolina at least since the case of *Carter's Dependents v. Palmetto State Life Insurance Company*." *Id.*, p. 9 (citing *Carter's Dependents v. Palmetto State Life Insurance Company*, 209 S.C. 67, 38 S.E.2d 905 (1946)). As already shown, a "subcontractor" is an "independent contractor" under the Law. *Supra* n. 2.

Commissioner Campbell ruled that Rodriguez is entitled to benefits under the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Law.¹⁶ Specifically, he determined that Rodriguez was a subcontractor and statutory employee of Evers, the upstream contractor. But both cannot be true. If she is a subcontractor of Evers, then Rodriguez cannot be a statutory employee of Evers. *McDowell v. Silley Plywood Co.*, 210 S.C. 173, 41 S.E.2d 872 (1947) ("The wording of [section 42-1-400] clearly evinces an intention on the part of the Legislature not to include therein a subcontractor or independent contractor, but only workmen or employees of [] the 'owner' of the subcontractor."). The Commissioner obviously muddled the distinction between a subcontractor and an employee of a subcontractor. In doing so, he Committed a fundamental error of law; that is, he determined he had jurisdiction when in fact he does not. This resulted in an award that prejudices the substantial rights of Evers—making her pay an award that she should not have to pay. Consequently, the Commissioner's decision prejudices Ms. Evers' substantial rights because it is affected by a fundamental error of law.