THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM THE  
SOUTH CAROLINA WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION

The Honorable T. Scott Beck Commissioner

---

SCWCC File No. 1619767

---

Appellate No. 2018-001111

---

**RECEIVED**  
OCT 04 2018  
SC Court of Appeals

Veronica Rodriguez, Employee .....Respondent

v.

Peggy Evers, Employer and NorGuard Insurance Company, Carrier ...Appellants.

---

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

---

Don C. Gibson  
PO Box 60669  
North Charleston, SC 29419  
(843)744-1887  
Attorney for Respondent

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

For appeals such as this one, from decisions of the Workers' Compensation Commission, the Workers' Compensation Act requires: "Notice of appeal *must* state the *grounds* of the appeal or the alleged *errors* of law." S.C. Code Ann. § 42-17-60 (emphasis added).

In addition, the Rules of Court require:

In appeals from administrative tribunals, the notice of appeal shall contain the following information:

- (A) The name of the agency ...
- (B) The ... docket number before the agency.
- (C) *The date of the decision from which the appeal is taken...*
- (D) The name of the party taking the appeal.
- (E) The names, mailing addresses, and telephone numbers of all attorneys of record and the names of the party or parties represented by each.

Rule 203 SCACR (emphasis added)

Here, Appellants' notice of appeal states neither grounds nor errors of law and it identifies only one decision "from which the appeal is taken":

Peggy Evers and NorGuard Insurance Company hereby appeal the FINAL Decision and Order of Honorable T. Scott Beck, Chairman of the Workers Compensation Commission, dated May 21, 2018. Appellants received written notice of entry of this order on May 22, 2018.

(R. p. 59) (capitalization in original)

Issues not raised in the notice of appeal are not preserved for appellate review. See, e.g., Solomon v. W.B. Easton, Inc., 307 S.C. 518, 521, 415 S.E.2d 841, 843 (Ct. App. 1992); and, White v. Med. Univ. of S.C., 355 S.C. 560, 564–65, 586 S.E.2d 157, 160 (Ct. App. 2003). "The court lacks jurisdiction of the appeal if the notice is insufficient." Solomon v. W.B. Easton, Inc., 307 S.C. at 522, 415 S.E.2d at 844. See, also, Hilton v. Flakeboard Am. Ltd., 418 S.C. 245, 252, 791 S.E.2d 719, 723 (2016) (explaining the importance of avoiding "repeated unexplained do overs before a final decision[.]")

Appellants cannot correct these errors by filing a new notice of appeal because more than thirty days has passed since entry of the orders in this case. "The award of the commission ... if not reviewed in due time ... is conclusive and binding [.]" S.C. Code Ann. § 42-17-60. "[E]ither

party ... within thirty days from the date of the award ... but not after ... may appeal from the decision of the commission to the court of appeals." *Id.*

Thus, this Court lacks appellate jurisdiction to review any of the issues raised in Appellants' brief and it lacks jurisdiction to review the unappealed 3/26/2018 administrative dismissal and the unappealed 4/16/2018 order denying reinstatement. Affirmance is, therefore, required.

Jurisdiction being dispositive, the Court need not consider any additional issues. See e.g., Pertuis v. Front Roe Restaurants, Inc., 2016-000749, 2018 WL 3297910, at \*8 (S.C. July 5, 2018) (citing Futch v. McAllister Towing of Georgetown, Inc., 335 S.C. 598, 613, 518 S.E.2d 591, 598 (1999) (explaining an appellate court need not address remaining issues when disposition of prior issue is dispositive).

## II. THE UNAPPEALED RULINGS OF COM. CAMPBELL AND THE FULL COMMISSION ARE THE LAW OF THE CASE, REQUIRING AFFIRMANCE.

"[A]n unappealed ruling, right or wrong, is the law of the case." Atl. Coast Builders & Contractors, LLC v. Lewis, 398 S.C. 323, 329, 730 S.E.2d 282, 285 (2012)<sup>1</sup>. See also, Roberts v. Roberts, 277 S.C. 459, 462, 289 S.E.2d 640, 641 (1982). (explaining "[b]ecause Roberts did not appeal from the May 8, 1979 order which denied his motion ... that issue is not now properly before us.") (citation omitted).

Appellants' June 12, 2018 notice of appeal seeks review of the May 21, 2018 decision of Workers Compensation Commission only. (R. p. 59) It does not appeal the other orders central to Appellants' contentions. The single order appealed from is the "Judicial Conference Decision and

---

<sup>1</sup> Accord, Skywaves I Corp. v. Branch Banking & Tr. Co., 814 S.E.2d 643, 653-54 (S.C. Ct. App. 2018), reh'g denied (June 21, 2018); Hotel & Motel Holdings, LLC v. BJC Enterprises, LLC, 414 S.C. 635, 659, 780 S.E.2d 263, 276 (Ct. App. 2015); Carolina Chloride, Inc. v. Richland Cty., 394 S.C. 154, 171-72, 714 S.E.2d 869, 878 (2011).

Order" of the Full Workers Compensation Commission, unanimously denying Appellants' motion to reconsider the Commission's denial of Appellants' motion to reinstate. (R. p. 17)

A nearly identical, unanimous, "Judicial Conference Decision and Order" of the Full Commission denied Appellants' motion to reinstate their appeal on April 16, 2018. (R. p. 16) That order is *not* appealed. Nor is the dismissal itself, entered by the Commission on March 26, 2018. (R. Appendix p. 2) These unappealed orders dismissing the appeal and denying reinstatement of the appeal to the Full Commission are the law of this case. "An unappealed ruling is the law of the case and requires affirmance." Transp. Ins. Co. & Flagstar Corp. v. S.C. Second Injury Fund, 389 S.C. 422, 432, 699 S.E.2d 687, 691 (2010) (cited by Shirley's Iron Works, Inc. v. City of Union, 403 S.C. 560, 573, 743 S.E.2d 778, 785 (2013) (emphasis added)).

An appealable order from which no appeal is taken becomes the law of the case in all subsequent proceedings involving the same parties and the same subject matter. Matheson v. McCormac, 187 S.C. 260, 196 S.E. 883 (1938); Professional Bankers Corp. v. Floyd, 285 S.C. 607, 331 S.E.2d 362 (Ct.App.1985); Lifschultz Fast Freight, Inc. v. Haynsworth, Marion, McKay & Guerard, 324 S.C. 645, 653, 486 S.E.2d 14, 18 (Ct. App. 1997), *aff'd in part as modified, vacated in part*, 334 S.C. 244, 513 S.E.2d 96 (1999). Com. Campbell's interlocutory Motion Order<sup>2</sup> denying Appellants' motion seeking to reopen the Record became "appealable" upon entry of Com. Campbell's final Decision and Order.<sup>3</sup> See, Bone v. U.S. Food Serv., 399 S.C. 566, 576, 733 S.E.2d 200, 205 (2012), *adhered to on reh'g*, 404 S.C. 67, 744 S.E.2d 552 (2013)

---

2 (12/17/2017 Motion Order)

3 (1/5/2018 Decision and Order) (R. p. 2)

("Where the party is not yet able to appeal due to the lack of a final judgment, the issue is not precluded by the law of the case doctrine as there was no prior opportunity for appeal.")

The law of the case applies equally to *appealed* orders, where the appeal is withdrawn or abandoned and dismissed. See, Judy v. Martin, 381 S.C. 455, 458, 674 S.E.2d 151, 153 (2009) ("Under the law-of-the-case doctrine, a party is precluded from relitigating, after an appeal, matters that were either not raised on appeal, but should have been, or raised on appeal, but expressly rejected by the appellate court."); Hudson ex rel. Hudson v. Lancaster Convalescent Ctr., 407 S.C. 112, 119, 754 S.E.2d 486, 490 (2014) (The Hudson Court applied the law of the case in a Workers Compensation appeal to "preclude" "relitigating issues" initially appealed, but later abandoned.).

The law of the case, thus, applies to Com. Campbell's denial of the motion to reopen the record and to his final decision and order, which were initially appealed, but which appeal was dismissed; and it also applies to the dismissal itself (unappealed) and to the April 16, 2018 denial of reinstatement (unappealed)<sup>4</sup>. See, e.g., Rodarte v. Univ. of S.C., 419 S.C. 592, 599, 799 S.E.2d 912, 916 (2017) (where Supreme Court denied certiorari previously, lower court's decision is the law of the case "and *cannot* be challenged") (emphasis added) (citations omitted). And, see Watkins v. Hodge, 232 S.C. 245, 247-48, 101 S.E.2d 657, 658 (1958) (refusing to consider issue from underlying case which had been ruled upon below and was not challenged on appeal).

The law of the case applies to appeals from orders of the Workers Compensation Commission. See, e.g., Sparks v. Palmetto Hardwood, Inc., 2010-UP-525, 2010 WL 10088098,

---

<sup>4</sup> The Commission's dismissal order reads: "The Request for Commission Review in the above captioned case is dismissed. The appellant brief was not timely filed pursuant to R.76-705H(3)." (R. Appendix p. 2))

at \*1 (S.C. Ct. App. Dec. 13, 2010) (affirming workers compensation commission decision because "[t]he [unappealed] ruling of the Workers' Compensation Commission ... is the law of the case) (citing ML--Lee Acquisition Fund, LP v. Deloitte & Touche, 327 S.C. 238, 241, 489 S.E.2d 470, 472 (1997) (noting an unappealed ruling is the law of the case)).

Moreover, any evidence contradicting the Commission's unappealed orders should not be considered on appeal. See, e.g., Segars v. Segars, 279 S.C. 564, 570, 310 S.E.2d 156, 159 (Ct. App. 1983) ("Testimony in contradiction of the unappealed order for summary judgment was inadmissible" at a later hearing).

On the basis of the January 5, 2018 Decision and Order of Com. Campbell (appeal having been dismissed on March 26, 2018) and the unappealed orders of the Commission (R. Appendix p. 2; R. p. 16), the May 21, 2018 order of the Commission denying reinstatement a second time must be affirmed.

The law of the case being a dispositive issue here, the Court need not consider any additional issues, per Pertuis v. Front Roe Restaurants, Inc., 2016-000749, 2018 WL 3297910, at \*8; and Futch v. McAllister Towing of Georgetown, Inc., 335 S.C. at 613, 518 S.E.2d at 598.

### III. THIS APPEAL IS MOOT.

The present appeal is moot, because this Court's reversal would not provide meaningful relief to Appellants, who would nevertheless be subject to the award of Com. Campbell and the unappealed dismissal and first order denying reinstatement. See, e.g., Byrd v. Irmo High Sch., 321 S.C. 426, 468 S.E.2d 861 (1996). "A case becomes moot when judgment, if rendered, will have *no practical legal effect* upon existing controversy. This is true when some event occurs making it impossible for [the] reviewing Court to grant effectual relief." *Id.* 321 S.C. at 431, 468

S.E.2d at 864 (emphasis added). See, also, Smith v. Town of Sullivan's Island, 2014-002128, 2016 WL 6247425, at \*1 (S.C. Ct. App. Oct. 26, 2016) (trial court's unappealed finding is the law of the case, any question on this issue is academic and, therefore, moot and not a proper subject for review) (citations omitted).

Once the Court determines that the appeal is moot, it need not consider Appellants' contentions. Hotel & Motel Holdings, LLC v. BJC Enterprises, LLC, 414 S.C. at 659, note 15, 780 S.E.2d 263 at 276 (citing Futch v. McAllister Towing of Georgetown, Inc., 335 S.C. at 613, 518 S.E.2d at 598) (an appellate court need not review remaining issues when its determination of a prior issue is dispositive of the appeal). Mootness being dispositive, the Court need not consider any other issues.

IV. APPELLANTS FAILED TO PRESENT EVIDENCE AND AUTHORITY SUPPORTING THEIR GOOD CAUSE ARGUMENTS BEFORE THE COMMISSION AND THIS COURT

(A) Appellants Presented No Evidence Of Good Cause.

Appellants cannot succeed in this appeal because at no point did they present evidence of good cause to reinstate appeal. Appellants' post-dismissal motions failed to include an affidavit as to statements of fact outside the record, which they presented as good cause to reinstate their administratively dismissed appeal. (R. pp. 35-52) The motion to reconsider incorporates by reference the motion to reinstate.<sup>5</sup> It refers to unsupported matters outside the record: a telephone call in which Appellants claim that "Claimant's attorney ... graciously extended the professional courtesy of promising not to object to reinstatement of the appeal." (Mot. to Reconsider at ¶ 7) (R. p. 42) (Undersigned does not concede the accuracy of this statement but has no burden to

---

<sup>5</sup> (R. p. 40)

refute it<sup>6</sup> at this stage because the Commission ruled in Claimant's favor.)

The motion continues: "This courtesy is tantamount to an acknowledgement that Claimant has sustained no harm or prejudice as a result of Defendant's mistake in not timely filing their brief" that "there is no better cause for reinstatement than implied consent of an opposing party regardless of the reason for the underlying administrative failure." (*Id.* ¶ 7) (R. p. 42) They urged the Commission to focus on "the rationale for the reinstatement", which they state "is simple: ***OPPOSING COUNSEL DID NOT OPPOSE REINSTATEMENT!***[sic]" (*Id.*) (emphasis, italics, underlining, enlarged font size and capitalization in original) (R. p. 42)

There is no basis for the "implied consent" rationale because, per the Regulations, failure to respond to a motion is deemed a general denial of that motion. S.C. Code Ann Regs. 67-215(F) No filed objection was required.

As to the "tantamount" "acknowledgement that Claimant has sustained no harm or prejudice" from Appellants' failure to file a brief, the prejudice to be considered on such a motion is whether she would likely suffer prejudice as a result of reinstating the appeal. No cogent argument was offered as to this consideration. Moreover, the record does not reflect the telephone call and "promise" not to oppose reinstatement at the base of the "tantamount" acknowledgement. (R. pp. 40-42) None of the post-dismissal motions included an affidavit as to the truth of the matters outside the record. (R. pp. 35-52)

The motion to reconsider is, thus, like the motion to reinstate, facially defective, per S.C. Code Ann Regs. 67-215(D) for failure to attach an affidavit addressing evidence outside the

---

<sup>6</sup> Conran v. Joe Jenkins Realty, Inc., 263 S.C. 332, 334, 210 S.E.2d 309, 310 (1974) ("The burden of proof is on the appellant to convince this Court that the lower court was in error.").

record. This point was argued, *inter alia*, in Claimant's (albeit hurried) return to the motion to reconsider. (R. pp. 53-57)

Regulation 67-215 provides, in pertinent part: "This regulation governs motions practice at all levels of proceedings before the Commission." S.C. Code Ann Regs. 67-215 "If the grounds on which the motion or reply depend is based on the existence of facts not in the Commission's file, the moving party shall file an affidavit or affidavits evidencing those facts." S.C. Code Ann Regs. 67-215(D)

Appellants' counsel's unsworn statements of matters not in the Commission's file do not constitute evidence of good cause. See, e.g., *Gilmore v. Ivey*, 290 S.C. 53, 60, 348 S.E.2d 180, 184 (Ct. App. 1986) (explaining that counsel's statements of fact and argument are not evidence, but are relevant matter and may constitute admissions by the party counsel represents).

The Regulation also provides: "The Commission will not address a motion involving the merits of the claim[.]" S.C. Code Ann Regs. 67-215(B) Appellants argue the merits of the claim by arguing the merits of their defense as grounds to reinstate. (3/27/2018 Mot. to Reinstate at ¶ 11) (R. p. 37) Appellants argue the import of their meritorious defense in their brief to this Court as well. (Final Brief of Appellants pp. 12-13) But, their defense is irrelevant because the Commission was not at liberty to consider the merits of the fully resolved underlying claim, per S.C. Code Ann Regs. 67-215(B).

These R.67-215 motion defects alone provide sufficient legal basis for the Commission to have denied the motion. "[I]t becomes *necessary* to refuse reinstatement when counsel fail to follow plainly declared rules of the court and statutory provisions concerning appeals." Brewton v. Inter-Carolinas Motor Bus Co., 167 S.C. 151, 166 S.E. 85 (1932) (emphasis added).

As a result, the decision may not be reversed. "In workers' compensation cases, the Full Commission is the ultimate fact finder." Shealy v. Aiken County, 341 S.C. 448, 455, 535 S.E.2d 438, 442 (2000). This Court reviews facts based on the substantial evidence standard. Under this approach, the appellate court may not substitute its judgment for that of the Commission as to the weight of the evidence on questions of fact." S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380(A)(6) (2005); Thompson v. S.C. Steel Erectors, 369 S.C. 606, 611-12, 632 S.E.2d 874, 877-78 (Ct. App. 2006).

This Court can modify the Commission's decision only if Appellants' substantial rights have been prejudiced ... by an error of law ... in view of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence. S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380(5); Shealy v. Aiken County, 341 S.C. at 454-55, 535 S.E.2d at 442. This "substantial evidence" "is not a mere scintilla of evidence nor evidence viewed from one side, but such evidence, when the whole record is considered, as would allow reasonable minds to reach the conclusion the Full Commission reached." Id., 341 S.C. at 455, 535 S.E.2d at 442 (citation omitted).

Reasonable minds could not find evidence of good cause for reinstatement, because none was presented. The *absence* of evidence supports the Commission's decision. Its denial of reinstatement cannot now be reweighed or modified.

(B) Appellants Failed To Enunciate The Applicable Standard Of Good Cause To Reinstatement A Workers' Compensation Appeal To The Full Commission.

Appellants argue that court should reverse the Commission's decision because Com. Campbell's decision prejudiced their substantial rights to appeal. (Final Brief of Appellants p. 13) In this argument, they focus on the alleged meritorious defense to Claimant's underlying claim, which, we know, the Commission was not at liberty to consider, per S.C. Code Ann Regs. 67-

215(B).

Nevertheless, they contend that their meritorious defense is an element of the good cause standard for setting aside entry of default in civil court; and, they argue that this standard applies here. (Final Brief of Appellants p. 11) Appellants offer no authority applying the standard for setting aside entry of default, under Rule 55 SCRCF, to a Workers' Compensation motion to reconsider denial of a motion to reinstate an appeal to the Full Commission. Undersigned finds none.

This may be explained by the fundamental differences between entry of default in a civil trial court and reinstatement of an appeal from a fully adjudicated Workers' Compensation award. In the former, suit has just begun and the merits have never been addressed, while the latter is fully resolved on the merits, including an appeal that was also resolved by dismissal.

Workers' Compensation matters differ from civil court matters so fundamentally that the Legislature treats them differently and the Rules of Civil Procedure do not apply. Instead, workers' compensation claims are governed by the Workers' Compensation Act and the Regulations promulgated by the Commission under the Act's authority. "The Workers' Compensation Act is a comprehensive scheme created to provide compensation to employees injured by accidents arising out of and in the course of their employment." S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-100 et seq.; Machin v. Carus Corp., 419 S.C. 527, 799 S.E.2d 468 (2017).

"[T]here is no provision in the workers' compensation regulations...allowing for the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure to fill in any gaps[.]" Adams v. Westinghouse SRS, 2009-UP-401, 2009 WL 9529409, at \*4 (S.C. Ct. App. Aug. 10, 2009). Thus, Appellants' materials fail to

enunciate the applicable standard for a showing of good cause to the Workers' Compensation Commission.

Likewise, Appellants' brief to this Court makes scant references to the record and offers conclusory argument and inapposite authorities. These failures constitute abandonment of their argument on appeal. See, e.g., Bass v. Gopal, Inc., 384 S.C. 238, 250, note 7, 680 S.E.2d 917, 923 (Ct. App. 2009), *aff'd*, 395 S.C. 129, 716 S.E.2d 910 (2011) (noting that without authority to support an argument, the party "has actually abandoned this argument"). See, also, Glasscock, Inc. v. U.S. Fid. & Guar. Co., 348 S.C. 76, 81, 557 S.E.2d 689, 691 (Ct. App. 2001) ("South Carolina law clearly states that short, conclusory statements made without supporting authority are deemed abandoned on appeal and therefore not presented for review.").

(C) Good Cause Requires An Explanation, Satisfactory To The Commission, For Why Appellants' Missed Deadline May Be Excused.

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